1970

**Arlean Vickers Barrett and George C. Barrett v. Leland H. Vickers,
Sterling D. Vickers and Ethelyn Vickers, and Joseph S. Barrett and
Ethel v. Barrett : Brief of Appellant**

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action by the plaintiffs Arliean Vickers Barrett and George C. Barrett for partition of property in which each of the parties hereto has an interest or

for the sale of the property and division of the proceeds and for an accounting of the equities of the parties in the property.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Trial was had before the Honorable C. Nelson Day, Judge of the District Court of the Fifth Judicial District in and for Juab County. The Judge entered an order granting the plaintiffs the George C. Barretts a judgment against the estate of Leland H. Vickers, deceased, for the sum of \$34.25; and a judgment against the defendant Ethelyn Vickers Johnson, as successor in interest of defendants Sterling D. Vickers, deceased, and Ethelyn Vickers for the sum of \$27.70. Judgment was awarded in favor of the defendant Joseph S. Barrett as successor in interest of the defendants Joseph S. Barrett and Ethel V. Barrett, deceased, against the estate of Leland H. Vickers, deceased, for the sum of \$1,007.16; and in favor of the said defendant Joseph S. Barrett against the plaintiffs the George C. Barretts for the sum of \$665.58. Finally a judgment was entered partitioning the property known as the Old Vickers Ranch east of Nephi, Utah, between the four principal interests as more specifically outlined on page 2 of the Judgment (R page 51).

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant seeks an order remanding the action to the District Court for further trial and proper dis-

position relative to the amounts of the judgments granted in favor of the appellant which judgments the appellant alleges to be deficient and with respect to the partition of the property which the appellant alleges to be in error, or in the alternative, should this court determine the facts as revealed by the exhibits and testimony of witnesses to be sufficiently clear to allow a final disposition of the case, for a determination of the proper amounts due and owing and an order remanding the case to the District Court for entry of judgment as specifically determined and outlined by this court so as to conclude this litigation which has now been pending for 28 years.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The preliminary facts out of which this case arose are amply set out in the case of *Barrett vs. Vickers*, 116 P.2d 772, 100 Utah 534 (1941). In that case the Supreme Court upheld the decision of Judge Will L. Hoyt to the effect that each of the four interest holders or pairs of interest holders owned an undivided one-fourth interest in and to the contract with the State Land Board (defendant's Exhibit 2). The present action was commenced by Arlean Vickers Barrett and George C. Barrett to partition the property or to sell the property and divide the proceeds in 1942. Trial was had, however, judgment was not rendered thereafter by the trial court until December 21, 1960 by which judgment the court decreed the property could not be par-

tioned without substantial injury to the property and the rights of the parties. The court did not, however, enter a decree that the property be sold.

The parties were dissatisfied with the judgment and again brought their problem before the Utah Supreme Court. (*Barrett vs. Vickers*, 362 P.2d 586, 12 Utah 2d 73 (1961)). This court stated in its opinion on that case:

It is obvious that where a co-tenancy is undesirable to one or more of the parties and they cannot agree upon a solution to the problems it presents there must be some method of terminating it. To meet such exigencies our statutes provide that when an action is brought the court 'must order a partition according to the respective rights of the parties,' or alternatively upon proof 'to the satisfaction of the court, that . . . the partition cannot be made without great prejudice to the owners, the court may order a sale thereof.' The proceeds must then be allocated according to the interests of the parties. A co-tenant who has properly invoked the aid of this statute is entitled to one or the other of these remedies as a matter of right. The failure of the court to grant either was error and this case must be remanded for determination of what should be done in that regard.

The case was retried September 17, 1962 by a different judge, the judge who had originally tried the case having retired, but again judgment was delayed and was not finally rendered on the matter until June 21, 1969 (R pp. 50-52).

From the time this action was first commenced in 1942 to the present time the parties have been in constant controversy resulting in a variety of additional lawsuits between the parties as to personal claims. All personal claims were excluded by the trial court in its pretrial order, (R. pp. 1-2) which was read into the transcript at page 16 and interpreted further at page 17. Following the original lawsuit and the determination of the interests of the parties in and to the contract the various parties made sporadic payments sufficient to maintain the group rights with the State Land Board but resulting in a confusion of equities, rights and interests which would tax the wits of the most qualified accountant.

The trial judge in 1945 finally recommended that somebody pay off the State Land Board in an effort to reduce the complications of the contract. This was done in 1945 and 1946 when Ethelyn Vickers and Sterling Vickers paid what was estimated to be the balance of their share and Ethel V. Barrett and Joseph S. Barrett paid the balance of the contract to the State Land Board (plaintiff's Exhibit F, State's Exhibit A, and plaintiff's Exhibit Q).

Various improvements were made upon the property, principal among which was the repair of the dam which had been washed out by a flood (Tr. pp. 86-87) and which necessitated placing the entire farm under cultivation to obtain Federal assistance (Tr. pp. 94, 95 and 224). This was done by Joseph S. Barrett (Tr. pp. 94, 96 and 100).

The details of the contributions made by the defendant Joseph S. Barrett and his wife and the improvements made by him are more specifically outlined with specific references to the record and transcript in those portions of this brief which deal with the points of alleged error on the part of the trial judge in ruling contrary to the evidence at the trial.

The testimony with regard to whether or not the property could be partitioned was conflicting and ambiguous (Tr. pp. 76, 150, 182, 185, 189, 190, 200). The plaintiff, George C. Barrett testified that the temporary division was not entirely satisfactory, (Tr. 200) and that he would not be interested in any of the divided portions, but that which he had specifically chosen for his own use (Tr. 189).

The court did not appoint referees to determine how the property should be divided.

The court filed a memorandum opinion on January 3, 1969 (R. pp. 29-30) which resulted in objections from both the plaintiffs and the defendant, Joseph S. Barrett, individually and as successor in interest of the defendant, Ethel V. Barrett (R. pp. 31-36), following which an informal conference was held between counsel for the parties and the court and being unable to resolve the differences informally, a formal hearing was scheduled and argument had relative to the objections filed. Thereafter, the court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment on June 21, 1969 (R. pp. 44-52) in which it abandoned its memorandum deci-

sion and awarded additional property to the George C. Barretts. This additional property was obtained from portions previously allotted to defendant Leland H. Vickers Estate under the memorandum decision in return for which certain property previously allocated to Joseph S. Barrett under the memorandum decision was allocated to the Leland H. Vickers Estate, along with some grazing land formerly allocated to the George C. Barretts.

The parties had, while the action was pending, divided the cultivatable property between themselves in a manner which although not satisfactory to any of the parties, (Tr. pp. 23, 76, 189, 200) had permitted some workable basis for use of the property during the long pendency of this action. The trial court followed this division to some degree in the judgment and divided the property based upon Findings of Fact No. 2, page 1 that each of the parties was entitled to an undivided one-fourth interest in and to the property (R. p. 45) and on the theory that the property allocated to each was an approximation of one-fourth of the monetary value of the farm.

The court found the reasonable value of the permanent improvements erected on the property by Joseph S. Barrett was \$260.00 (R. p. 46) and the court set out in Paragraph 6 of the Findings of Fact the proportionate credits allowed to each of the parties for payments made toward the contract including a consideration of the judgment rendered in 1940 by Judge Hoyt (R. p. 45).

During the pendency of this action the defendant Sterling D. Vickers passed away and his wife Ethelyn Vickers has remarried and is now Ethelyn Vickers Johnson. The defendant Leland H. Vickers has passed away and the plaintiff Arliean Vickers Barrett has been appointed as Administratrix of his estate and appeared at the trial of this action in 1962 both as plaintiff and as defendant in her capacity as Administratrix of the estate of Leland H. Vickers. The defendant Ethel V. Barrett became incompetent and was such during the trial of the case in 1962 with the defendant Joseph S. Barrett representing her interests as guardian. After the trial of the case in 1962 the defendant Ethel V. Barrett passed away and the defendant Joseph S. Barrett is her successor in interest herein. The defendant Joseph S. Barrett has himself subsequently remarried.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN ITS FINDINGS AS TO THE AMOUNT OF PAYMENTS MADE BY EACH OF THE CO-TENANTS.

The payments of each of the co-tenants are set out in plaintiff's Exhibit F (which carries two sets) and State's Exhibit A. Appendix "A" hereto is an outline of payments of each of the parties by date and the amount paid as consolidated from the three statements of the State Land Board. The reconciliation of these

three sets of records of payment, commencing subsequent to the judgment of Judge Hoyt in favor of the plaintiffs against the parties in the total amount of \$119.89, show that the defendant George C. Barrett paid an additional \$508.69 not \$716.54 as set out by the court. The defendant Sterling D. Vickers and Ethelyn Vickers paid an additional \$868.71 not \$836.41 as set out by the court and the defendant Joseph S. Barrett and Ethel V. Barrett paid an additional \$2,085.94 not \$2,051.93 as set out by the court. Only the contributions of the defendant Leland H. Vickers were correct as outlined by the court.

POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN TAKING JUDGE HOYT'S JUDGMENT INTO ACCOUNT IN COMPUTING CREDITS AND EQUITIES OF THE PARTIES.

The judgment of \$119.89 net against the three defendants in favor of the plaintiffs should not have been taken into account by the trial court in the computations of subsequent credits and equities of the parties but rather should be considered separately as a judgment against each defendant based upon Judge Hoyt's breakdown as to the liability of each defendant as set forth in Paragraph 3 of Page 3 of the Judge's August 15, 1940 decree (Defendant's Exhibit No. 2).

Defendant Joseph S. Barrett and his wife Ethel V. Barrett would be charged with \$70.16 less one-third

of the total 'costs' of \$96.70 awarded by the trial court and the Supreme Court leaving a net judgment in favor of the plaintiffs, the George C. Barretts in the amount of \$37.93 plus interest thereon at the rate of 8 per cent per annum from the date of that judgment until paid.

It is noted that no effort has been made to enforce that judgment by execution proceedings or otherwise and that as a matter of law that judgment has been barred since August 15, 1948 since it has never been renewed. (Section 78-12-22 Utah Code Annotated as amended.) The plaintiff cannot now revive that judgment by attempting to consolidate it as a credit in the present action. That judgment was a separate, distinct, and enforceable judgment from the date it was incurred until it expired by limitations in 1948, fourteen years prior to the commencement of the trial which is the subject of the present appeal.

POINT III

THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE LELAND H. VICKERS ESTATE AN OFF-SET IN THE AMOUNT OF \$450.00.

The court allowed \$450.00 as the reasonable value of work and labor performed by defendant Leland H. Vickers for and on behalf of defendants Joseph S. Barrett and Ethel V. Barrett (R. p. 46).

In the first instance there was no testimony of any kind entered in the trial of the case as to the extent, if

any, of the specific services performed by Leland H. Vickers, although there were some references to individual dealings (Tr. pp. 80, 83, 84, 111, and 130). Further, there was no testimony whatsoever given at trial as to the value of services, labor or work performed, if any, by Leland H. Vickers for and on behalf of Joseph S. Barrett or Ethel V. Barrett. Nor was there any evidence as to any agreed compensation for services.

In the absence of any evidence whatsoever as to services performed, if any, and the value of services performed, the court certainly cannot arbitrarily arrive at some estimate of the extent of services or the agreed compensation for services, if any, and/or of the value to be placed thereon. Likewise, it is equally clear the court cannot draw from sources outside the record to establish the extent of services, if any, or the value thereof (*Tucker Realty vs. Nunley*, 396 P.2d 410, 16 Utah 2d 97 (1964)).

There were obviously a variety of dealings and disputes between the defendant Joseph Barrett and his wife, Ethel, and the defendant, Leland H. Vickers, (Tr. pp. 80, 83, 84, 111 and 130), all of which transactions resulted in a lawsuit which was eventually settled through court action in which all personal services were taken into account (Tr. pp. 125, 126, and 127). (The lawsuit referred to was Joseph S. Barrett vs. Leland S. Vickers, Civil No. 3769 in the District Court of the Fifth Judicial District in and for Juab County. The case was dismissed with prejudice on stipulation of par-

ties in 1958.) Further, Joseph S. Barrett testified without contradiction or opposing evidence of any kind that Leland H. Vickers did not perform any services in return for money advanced for payment on the property or for improvements made to the property and that all services which were performed were in return for personal claims of the parties which had been settled in the action above referred to (Tr. pp. 127 and 131).

Thus evidence of any such claims, if there had been any would be precluded by res adjudicata as having been determined and concluded in the action previously filed and settled between the parties.

In addition to the above the court's own finding in Paragraph 11 of the Findings of Fact would bar consideration of this purported offset. In Paragraph 11 of the court's Findings of Fact (R. p. 47) the court stated:

That the adjudication of this case involves only an adjudication as to the right to partition the property involved herein and a settlement of the claims between the parties for the cost of said property and the cost of the permanent improvements which were erected thereon but *does not involve an adjudication of any other claims which the parties may have had or attempted to assert against the others which said claims were specifically excluded.* (e.a.)

The court's finding is amply substantiated by the transcript (Tr. pp. 13, 16 and 17).

It is eminently clear therefore that even if there had been testimony and evidence as to the extent of the

work and labor performed, if any, by Leland H. Vickers on behalf of Joseph S. Barrett and his wife and/or as to the value thereof, by the court's own ruling that testimony would be beyond the scope of the case and would be excluded from consideration.

POINT IV

THE FINDINGS OF FACT PREPARED BY THE TRIAL COURT CONSTITUTE ERROR.

The Findings of Fact do not set out a basis from which it can be determined how they were derived. There is no accounting made available by the court to show what rate of interest was charged, for what periods of time, on what specific contribution. The parties are thus left with no way by which the findings can be reconciled with the record and the transcript of the testimony taken in the trial of the case.

POINT V

THE COURT ERRED IN HIS COMPUTATIONS OF THE AMOUNTS OWED BY EACH OF THE PARTIES TO THE DEFENDANT JOSEPH S. BARRETT.

The credits to which each of the parties is entitled is a technical accounting question on which the court should have appointed an accountant as a referee to make the necessary computations. The court apparently

attempted to do this without the aid of special skills of an accountant in spite of the explicit suggestion of this court in *Barrett vs. Barrett*, 362 P.2d 586 12 Utah 2d 73 (1961) that the trial court appoint a referee for this purpose. As a result the trial court was unable to resolve the accounting problem.

Appendix "B" is an accountant's computation as to credits for each of the parties, commencing with the payments of October 5, 1940. The payments prior to that date having been resolved and consolidated into Judge Hoyt's Judgment of August 15, 1940. The accountant has divided the liability into four equal parts and credited each party with payments as and when made by him and charged each party with interest at the rate of four per cent per annum on all unpaid principal prior to the due date of any installment thereon and eight per cent per annum on past due installments and interest as outlined by the contract (Defendant's Exhibit 1). After the point where the contract was paid off to the State Land Board, pursuant to the trial court's Conclusion of Law No. 1, (R. p. 44) the defendant Joseph S. Barrett has been subrogated to the rights of the State Land Board as against the parties who are in arrears in their payments on the contract. He is thereafter entitled to all amounts then due and owing to the State Land Board, together with all amounts thereafter becoming due and owing with interest at the rate of four per cent per annum on all unpaid installments of principal not yet due and interest at the rate of eight per cent per annum on all past due installments

of principal and interest. The accountant did not compound the eight per cent per annum interest charged on past due principal and interest.

The amount therefor due and owing to the defendant Joseph S. Barrett by the plaintiffs the George C. Barretts as of the date of the court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment on June 21, 1969, was \$1,152.56 for contributions toward the purchase price of the property, not \$536.88 as found by the court. The amount due and owing to the defendant Joseph S. Barrett by the estate of Leland H. Vickers was \$2,231.61 for contributions toward the purchase price of the property not \$878.46 as found by the court.

POINT VI

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE VALUE OF THE IMPROVEMENTS MADE UPON THE PROPERTY BY JOSEPH S. BARRET WAS \$260.00.

The evidence was clear that the dam alone cost \$484.27 of which amount only Mrs. Johnson paid her one-fourth share to the defendant Joseph S. Barrett (Tr. pp. 86 and 87). There is no evidence or testimony to the contrary. There is no question but that the dam was, and that the court intended to find the dam was a permanent improvement and a necessary expenditure to preserve the value of the property.

In order to obtain the participation of the Federal

government for the repair of the dam, it was necessary the entire farm be placed under cultivation (Tr. pp. 94, 95 and 224). This Joseph S. Barrett did and in connection therewith planted alfalfa (Tr. pp. 101 and 247). The alfalfa itself was a benefit to the land and one which the plaintiffs and the defendant Leland H. Vickers received the benefits from and which the plaintiffs and the estate of Leland H. Vickers continue to harvest for their own use and benefit and which the court noted would continue to benefit the land for a period of approximately 25 years (Tr. pp. 100, 101 and 252).

There was substantial expenditure for ditches which benefited the entire land, purchased (Tr. pp. 71, 79 and 90 and the defendant's Exhibit 18). These various ditches and their maintenance were necessary in order to benefit from the dam which had been installed.

Joseph S. Barrett also put in a substantial amount of fencing (Tr. pp. 71, 83, 84 and 107) all of which benefited the various co-tenants.

Further, the court specifically found that clearing of the brush from the George Barretts' portion of the land, was a permanent improvement to the land (Tr. p. 93). The amount of the above expenses and others are set out in Defendant's Exhibit 18.

If even the dam alone, without consideration to the above-mentioned items or the other contributions made by Joseph S. Barrett (Defendant's Exhibit 18) were taken into account, the plaintiffs the George C. Barretts

and the defendant Leland H. Vickers would each be indebted to the defendant in the sum of \$121.05 plus interest at six per cent as opposed to the \$65.00 allowed by the court. The error of the trial court is clear. The entire question of improvements must be reviewed either by this court, if possible, or on retrial of the cause before the trial court.

The defendant Joseph S. Barrett should be entitled to judgment in the amount of one-fourth of the reasonable value of all the improvements made upon the property as against the plaintiffs the George C. Barretts and one-fourth of the reasonable value of permanent improvements upon the property against the estate of Leland H. Vickers, together with interest on each sum at the rate of six per cent per annum from the date the improvements were completed.

POINT VII

THE FAILURE OF THE COURT TO MAKE A RULING IN THIS CASE AFTER THE TRIAL FOR A PERIOD IN EXCESS OF SIX YEARS CONSTITUTES REVERSIBLE ERROR.

Our legislature has recently declared that delay beyond a sixty day period is unreasonable unless circumstances causing such delay are beyond the personal control of the judge (Section 78-7-25 Utah Code Annotated 1953 as amended). In addition the judge is

required to make a monthly written report to the District Court Administrator on all cases held by him under advisement which have been fully submitted for his consideration and determination for a period of sixty days or more. (Section 78-7-26 Utah Code Annotated 1953 as amended.)

This attorney has been able to find no cases which have dealt with a situation where a trial judge procrastinated for a period of six years prior to handing down his ruling. The longest period of time found was a period of 2½ years in the case of *Dusbabek vs. Bowers*, 43 P.2d 97, 173 Okl. 53 (1934). That case held that the trial judge had not lost jurisdiction through failure to enter the judgment and the parties had not been prejudiced thereby.

The only Utah case found dealing specifically with delay in entry of judgment is a criminal case *Kolb vs. Peterson*, 168 Pac. 97, 50 Utah 450 (1917), which held that in a criminal action the court did not lose jurisdiction of the case thus making the sentence illegal where the court failed to enter judgment within a period of two days as required by Section 5154 *Compiled Laws of Utah 1907* but rather delayed judgment for a period of six days after the sentence was rendered.

In the present case the wife of the defendant Joseph S. Barrett has died since the trial of this case and due to the extreme delay the only attorney now representing the parties in the action who appeared at the trial of the cause is the attorney for the plaintiffs. It is a prac-

tical improbability and a realistic assumption that the trial judge could not retain the facts of this trial in his memory for a period in excess of six years and then make a decision based upon the evidence placed before him at the trial even with the use of notes taken at the trial. The reality of the trial judge's fallible memory is evidenced by his Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law which are replete with errors, assertions and conclusions in clear contradiction to the testimony entered at trial as transcribed and presently available to this court.

POINT VIII

THE COURT ERRED IN ITS RULING THAT THE PROPERTY WAS A PROPER SUBJECT FOR PARTITION.

The first trial on this case determined the property could not be equitably partitioned. The trial court, however, did not make a ruling with regard to sale and division of the proceeds. This court's decision in that case was to the effect that if a proper petition is made for partition or sale of the property the petitioner is entitled to one of the two remedies (*Barrett vs. Vickers*, 362 P.2d 586, 12 Utah 2d 73 (1961)). The case was remanded to the trial court for further action consistent with that decision. This court did not in that case overrule the trial judge's decision that the property could not be partitioned. The proper action and disposition of the case once received again by the trial court should

have been for a determination of the credits and interest of the parties and procedures and arrangement for sale and division of the proceeds. Retrying the question as to whether or not the property could be partitioned was beyond the authority of the court and contrary to the decision and directive of this court to process the matter in accordance with the opinion handed down.

In the subsequent trial of the matter the testimony again was contrary to a partition. Joseph S. Barrett stated that he did not believe the property could be divided, that it would be an injury to the overall value of the property and could be done only at a great loss (Tr. p. 76). None of the parties indicated satisfaction with the division of the property as it had been temporarily divided and was being used. Even the plaintiff George Barrett, who recommended a division which would place one-quarter section more in the area in which he would participate (Tr. p. 150) was not satisfied. He testified that if the property were divided as he proposed that it be divided he would not be satisfied with any portion of the property except that particular portion which he had previously selected and had previously been using (Tr. pp. 85, 185, 189, 190, 200 and 201). The evidence is amply clear that the ranch is small and in its entirety would support only minimal crops or a small herd of sheep or cattle (Tr. pp. 181, 182, and 183). Further the water rights to the ranch were of such a nature that if divided further would result in inadequate irrigation (Tr. pp. 179, 215).

POINT IX

THE PARTITION ORDERED BY THE COURT IS IN ERROR.

Section 78-39-12 Utah Code Annotated 1953 as amended states:

. . . upon the requisite proofs being made, it (the court) *must* order a partition according to the respective rights of the parties as ascertained by the court and *appoint three referees therefor*, . . . (e.a.)

Thereafter Section 78-39-13 and Section 78-39-14 specify the duties and powers of the referees and the procedure to be used in their report. In the present case no referees were appointed by the court, an omission in clear violation of the statute and which constitutes reversible error.

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