1970

**Arlean Vickers Barrett and George C. Barrett v. Leland H. Vickers,
Sterling D. Vickers and Ethelyn Vickers, and Joseph S. Barrett and
Ethel v. Barrett : Brief of Respondents**

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

ARGUMENT

In his brief Appellant sets forth twelve points of alleged error purportedly made by the Trial Court. These fall logically into three divisions. Respondents will accordingly answer Appellant's arguments by directing their arguments to these three divisions of alleged error.

POINT I

THE MONEY JUDGMENTS GRANTED THE PARTIES ARE SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

In Point I of his brief Appellant refers to Appendix A thereof which is purportedly a reconciliation of Exhibits A and F setting forth the payments made by the parties after April 4, 1940, toward the purchase price of the property. It does not show the taxes which were paid and by whom. Its main deficiency, however, is that it doesn't even show all the payments which were made.

It does not give these Respondents any credit for the \$145.09 they paid 4-4-1940, nor for the \$138.46 they paid 5-31-1939 nor for the \$200.00 they paid of the \$355.00 paid 7-12-1938. In other words it fails to give them any credit at all for \$483.55 which they admittedly paid toward the purchase price of the property.

Then Appellant's counsel argues in Point II that these Respondents are not entitled to even the \$119.89 net credit which Judge Hoyt, Judge Day and even Appellant by his own computation in his own handwriting allows them. (See Joseph S. Barrett's handwritten computation attached to E. J. Skeen's letter of 1-1-1968 to Judge Day included with the Exhibits) The reasoning of Appellant's counsel for denying these Respondents even this \$119.89 net credit which was arrived at by Judge Hoyt by offsetting the debits and

credits between the parties is that it is purportedly barred from further consideration after August 15, 1948, by the provisions of 78-12-22 Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, since it was included in Judge Hoyt's Decree which was never renewed.

The inconsistency and fallacy of Appellant's reasoning is that if these respondents are, by the provisions of 78-12-22 Utah Code 1953, as amended, denied the net credit of \$119.89 allowed them by Judge Hoyt's Decree of August 15, 1940, then Appellant and the others likewise should be denied the offsetting credits which they were allowed by the very terms of that same Decree. Respondents then should be given additional credit not only for the \$119.89 net credit but for the full \$483.55 which they admittedly paid toward the purchase price of the property. This would in turn reduce considerably the money judgment which Appellant was in fact granted against these Respondents.

In Point III Appellant contends the Court erred in making an allowance to Leland H. Vickers for the work and labor he performed for and on behalf of Appellant as an offset against the money judgment granted Appellant against the Estate of Leland H. Vickers.

Appellant concedes that Leland H. Vickers did perform work and labor for him. In addition the Transcript bears this out by the testimony of others. Appellant contends, however, that this work and labor was in settlement of certain other claims between those two which were previously settled between them.

An objective analysis of the evidence in this regard demonstrates that the Trial Court acted reasonably and justifiably. In any event, even if the Trial Court did err in this respect, it does not justify a reversal but merely an adjustment in the money judgment granted as between those parties.

In Points IV, V and VI Appellant complains about the Court's accountings and particularly about the allowances the Court made for the improvements made on the property.

The fact is that the parties themselves valued the entire ranch at somewhere between \$8,000 and \$14,000. George C. Barrett valued it at about \$8,000. (Transcript 81) Joseph S. Barrett valued it between \$8,000 and \$8,500. (Transcript 77, 78) And Ethelyn Vickers now Ethlyn Vickers Johnson valued it even when it was at its best at between \$13,000 and \$14,000. (Transcript 38) Nevertheless, the parties were making all kinds of claims for the improvements erected thereon. These so-called improvements ranged from \$0.75 per hour for labor (Transcript 87), \$0.50 for a cedar post (Transcript 87), \$1,000 for one house (Transcript 173), \$8,000 for another house (Transcript 36) and approximately \$3,250 for some spruces, junipers and ash trees planted on the property (Transcript 177).

A realistic appraisal of the situation evidences that some of the so-called improvements benefit all of the property but most benefit only those portions which the individual parties had by agreement allocated unto

themselves and had occupied and used for more than 20 years. The Trial Court's allocation of the sum which it did for permanent improvements erected upon the property is certainly substantiated by the evidence.

The answer to Appellant's arguments set forth in Points I through VI of his brief is the phrase used by this Court in *Casey v. Nelson Brothers Construction Co.*, 465 P2d, 173 Utah 2d ..., namely:

“ x x where there is a dispute in the evidence we assume that the trial court believed those aspects of the evidence, and drew the inferences which could fairly and reasonably be drawn therefrom, which tend to support the findings and judgment; and that upon our views of the record in that light, if there is a reasonable basis in the evidence to support them they will not be disturbed.”

See also *Winger v. Gem State Mutual of Utah*, 449 P2d 982, 22 Utah 2d 132.

POINT II

THE RULING FINALLY MADE BY THE TRIAL COURT IS SUPPORTABLE AS WELL AS FAIR, JUST AND EQUITABLE AND SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

In Point VII Appellant berates the Trial Court for waiting so long before rendering its decision. These Respondents wholeheartedly agree with Appellant in this regard. Certainly justice delayed 28 years compli-

icates the matter and almost makes a mockery of so-called justice.

Since the ruling finally made by the Trial Court is supportable and is fair, just and equitable, it should be affirmed. This Court should put an end to the 28 year court battle between the parties.

POINT III

THE PROPERTY WAS A PROPER SUBJECT FOR PARTITION AND THE PARTITIONMENT ACTUALLY MADE WAS NECESSARY AS WELL AS FAIR, JUST AND EQUITABLE.

Points VIII through XII in the Brief of Appellant all relate to the alleged error of the Trial Court in partitioning the property and in not allowing the money judgments granted the respective parties to be express and prior liens against the partitioned portions thereof.

It is most revealing to note Appellant's changing positions about the partitionment of the property.

As previously noted herein, primarily because the parties had in fact agreed upon an actual working partitionment of the property as far back as 1945, Judge Sevy, in his Decision of December 21, 1960, said:

“ x x in the light of developments since the trial of the case it is inequitable and unfair to order a sale of the property.”

After the conclusion of the present trial which is the subject matter of this appeal, Judge Day, in his written Memorandum Decision of January 3, 1969, said

“ x x The said property is and should be partitioned as follows * * *.”

These Respondents filed objections to the proposed partitionment on the grounds that it actually short-changed some of the parties in equated money values. Appellant, on February 11, 1969, filed his written response in which he said among other things that:

“ x x x the proposed allocated partitionment is fair, just and equitable under all circumstances of this case. * * * ”

This written response of Appellant to the proposed partitionment was made in spite of the fact that no referees had been appointed as required by the provisions of 78-39-12 Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, and which failure Appellant now argues in error in Point IX.

It was after the re-argument of the case, particularly with reference to the proposed partitionment, that Judge Day made some minor adjustments in his proposed partitionment so as to equalize as nearly as possible the equated money value for the land partitioned to the respective parties. Although the Transcript and Record do not reveal it, the fact is that at the re-argument to adjust somewhat the partitionment proposed by Judge Day, James P. McCune, now Judge McCune, appeared on behalf of some people Appellant had

agreed to sell his proposed partitioned half to. He appeared for the express purpose of ascertaining if the proposed partitionment was satisfactory to the purchasers of Appellant's portion. This is evidenced by the fact that the name of James P. McCune, who does not and did not represent any of the parties in this case, nevertheless appears on both the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and the Judgment and Decree signed by Judge Day. They were sent to him at his express request.

While the Utah Code does provide that in a partitionment proceeding referees should be appointed and they were not in this case, it is respectfully submitted that this was not prejudicial. Under the circumstances of this case, even if the statutory provisions with reference to the appointment of referees were deemed mandatory rather than directory, they could certainly be construed as having been waived by the parties. Furthermore, while the testimony set forth in the Transcript is somewhat confusing, it is respectfully submitted that other than Appellant, each of the other parties testified that partitionment of the property was best. Appellant himself said in response to objections made to the initial proposed partitionment that the "proposed allocated partitionment is fair, just and equitable under all circumstances * * *." Thereafter, he even sold his partitioned portion.

In answer to the argument that the money judgments granted should have been declared express and

prior liens against the property partitioned and awarded to the parties, Respondents point out merely that there is no statutory provision which would authorize this and under the circumstances of this case it is not justifiable

CONCLUSION

From all of the foregoing it is amply clear that the 28 year old dispute and legal battle between the parties over the property in question should be terminated once and for all. The partitionment made and the money judgments granted were as fair, just and equitable as can ever be done under the circumstances of this case; they are supported by an objective and reasonable analysis of the evidence, and, accordingly, should be affirmed.